IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

STATE OF FLORIDA, 

Petitioner, 

VS. 

BILLY KEY, 

Case No. 78,899 

Respondent. 
I 

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS 

PRELIMINARY STATEM.ENT 

Petitioner, the State of Florida, will be referred herein 

as either "Petitioner" or #!the State. I' Respondent, Billy Key, 

defendant below, will be referred to herein as "Respondent." 

References to the record on appeal in the DCA case no. 90-03689 

will be referred to herein by the symbol " R "  followed by the 

appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

Respondent was sentenced as a habitual felony offender on 

November 9, 1990, based on prior felony convictions which were 

not entered sequentially. (R 113-114). Respondent's circuit 

court cases were consolidated for appeal. On appeal, the First 

District Court of Appeal affirmed Respondent's conviction but 

reversed his sentence. Key v. State, 589 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1991). 

Petitioner filed a notice to invoke this Court's 

discretionary jurisdiction on November 6 ,  1991, and Respondent 

filed a "notice to invoke discretionary review on separate issue" 

on November 14, 1991. Both parties filed jurisdictional briefs. 

On March 16, 1992, this Court issued an order accepting 

jurisdiction but expressly denying Respondent's notice to invoke 

discretionary review on separate issue, treated by this Court as 

a cross notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. 

The instant brief on the merits follows. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Due to the brevity of the argument herein, a formal 

summary of argument will be omitted. 
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ARGUMENT 

ISSUE 

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(l)(a)l, FLORIDA 
STATUTES (SUPP. 1988), WHICH DEFINES 
HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AS THOSE WHO 
HAVE "PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF TWO 
OR MORE FELONIES," REQUIRES THAT EACH OF 
THE FELONIES BE COMMITTED AFTER 
CONVICTION FOR THE IMMEDIATELY PREVIOUS 
OFFENSE 

The issue in the instant case was recently answered by 

this Court in the negative in State v. Barnes, 17 F.L.W. S119 

(Fla. Feb. 2 0 ,  1992), reh. denied, 17 F.L.W. S- (Fla. March 25, 

1992), attached hereto. It is settled, therefore, that 

Respondent's habitual felony offender sentence based on prior 

felony convictions entered nonsenquentially is a legal sentence. 
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CONCLUSION 

Petitioner respectfully urges this Honorable Court to 

reverse the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below 

and reinstate Respondent's habitual felony offender sentence. 

Respectfully submitted, 

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH 
Attorney General 

Ass is tait Attorney Gen&d 
Florida Bar Number 0 7 1 4 2 2 4  

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS 
The Capitol 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050  
( 9 0 4 )  488 -0600  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing Petitioner's Brief on the Merits has been furnished by 

U.S. Mail to MR. GLEN P. GIFFORD, Assistant Public Defender, 

Office of the Public Defender, Second Judicial Circuit of 

Florida, Leon County Courthouse, Fourth Floor North, 301 South 

Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32301, this 9& day of 

April, 1992. 
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775.0841, Florida Shtutes (Supp. 1988), the legislature intended 
10 provide for the incarceration of repeat felony offenders for 
longer periods of time. However, this is accomplished by en- 
lar Jement of the maximum sentences that can be imposed when a 

dant is found to be an habitual felon or an habitual violent &. Further, when section 775.084 was amended by the pas- 
sag2 of chapter 88-131, Laws of Florida, i t  authorized for the 
first time a minimum mandatory sentence for a repeat violent 
felony offender. However, as in the case of the three-year mini- 
mum mandatory sentence required for committing a felony while 
in possession of a gun, section 775.084 constitutes an enhance- 
ment of the felony prescribed by statute for the underlying of- 
fense. 

We cannot accept the State’s contention that consecutive mini- 
mum mandatories are required bcause  of the provisions of 
section 775.021, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988). In the first place, 
our opinion in Palmer rejected the contention tbat section 
775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1981), which was worded substan- 
tially the same as section 775.021(4)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 
19S8), permitted the stacking of consecutive minimum mandato- 
ry sentences. The subsequent additionof subsection (b) to section 
775.021(4)3 was designed to overrule this Court’s decision in 
Carnwan v. Stale, 515 So. 2d 161 (FIa. 1987), pertaining to 
consecutive sentences for separate offenses committed at the 
same time, and had nothing to do with minimum mandatory 
sentences. 

We answer the certified question as reworded in the negative. 
We do not address the other issues raised by Daniels in his brief. 
We quash that portion of the decision below which authorized 
three consecutive fifteen-yar minimum mandatory sentences for 
offenses which arose from the same incident and remand with 
directions that two of the minimum mandatory sentences be made 

t is so ordered. (SHAW, C.J. and OVERTON, McDON- 
, to run concurrently with the third. 

, BARKETT, KOGAN and HARDING, JJ. ,concur.) 

‘\vhilc Danicls was also convictcd of a f o u h  crime, h i s  is not rclcvant to 
our dccision bccausc he was not given a minimum mandatory scntcncc. 

’As an altcmativc, the Shtc  also contcnds that Danicls’ crimes amsc from 
scparatc iiicidcnts occurring a( scparatc timcs and placcs. Scc M u m y  v. Shtc. 
491 So. 2d 1120 (Fla. 1986). Wc concludcthat thc C O U ~  below correctly dclcr- 
mincd that lliesc crimcs am3c out of a singlc criminal cpisodc. 

’Ch. 85-13 1,s 7, Laws of Fia. 
* * *  

Criminai law-Sentencing-IIabitual offender-Section 
775.084(1)(a)l, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) does not require 
that prior fefony convictions upon which habituaI offender CIS- 
sification is predicated besequential 
STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner, v. ANTHONY T. B M J 3 ,  Respondent. 
Supreme Court of Florida. Case No. 77,751. Fcbruary 20, 1992. Applicstion 
for Rcvicw of thc Decision of the District Court of Appeal - Ccnificd Grcst 
Public Importance. Fint Disiricr - Case No. 89-3257 (Gadsdcn County). Robcn 
A. Buttcworlh, Attorney General and Bradley R. Bischoff, Assistant Attorncy 
General, Tsllahasscc, Florida, for PctiLioncr. Nancy A. Danicls, Public Dc- 
fcndcr; and Michacl J. Mincrva and Kathleen Stover, Assistant Public Defcnd- 
crs, Second Judicial Circuit, Tallahasscc, Florida, Tor Respondent. 

(OVERTON, J.) The State of FIorida petitions this Court to re- 
view B C Z ~ I ~ C S  v. Sfare, 576 So. 2d 758 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), in 
which the First District Court of Appeal vacated Barnes’ sen- 
tence as a habitual felony offender. The district court certified the 
following question as being of  great public importance: 

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(1Xa)l. FLORIDA STATUTES 
FELONV OF- 

ENDERS AS THOSE WHO HAVE “PREVIOUSLY BEEN 
n 

CONVICTION FOR TKE IMMEDIATELY PREVIOUS OF- 
FENSE. 

The relevant facts reflect that Barnes commjtted hvo felonies 
in two separate incidenb in September of 1387. Although they 
were charged separately, Barnes p ledcd  to both offenses 011 the 
same day and was subsequently sentenced for both offenses at 
one sentencing ha r ing .  

B3mes was then found guilty of battery and grand auto theft 
for offenses which he committed on May 28, 1989. The Shte  
filed notice of its intent to have Barnes sentenced as a habitual 
felony offender based on the two previous felonies for which he 
was sentenced in 1987. The prosecutor sought to sentence Barnes 
as a habitual offender under section 775.084(1)(a)-@), Florida 
Statutes (Supp. 1988), which provides: 

(1) As used in this act: 
(a) “Habitual felony offender” means a defendant for whom 

the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment, as 
provided in this section, if it finds that: 

1. i”ie dej2ndant liar previousiy been convicfrd of nvo or 
more felonies in this sraie; 

2. The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced was 
committed within 5 years of the date of the conviction of the last 
prior felony or other qualified offense of which he was convict- 
ed, or within 5 years of the defendant’s release, on parole or 
otherwise, from a prison sentence or other commitment imposed 
as a result of a prior conviction for a felony or other qualified 
offense, whichever is later; 

3. The defendant has  not received a pardon for any felony or 
other qualified offense that is necessary for the operation of this 
section; and 

4. A conviction of a felony or other qualified offense ncczs- 
sary to the operation of this section has not been set s i d e  in  any  
post-conviction proceeding. 

@) “Habitual violent felony offender” means a deiendant for 
whom the court may impose an exteuded term of imprisonment, 
as provided in this section, if it finds that: 

1. The defendant has  previously been convicted of a felony or  
an attempt or conspiracy to commit a fe!ony and one or more of 
such convictionswas for: 

a. Arson, 
b. Sexual battery, 
c. Robbery, 
d. Kidnapping, 
e. Aggravated child abuse, 
f. Aggravated assault, 
g. Murder, 
h. Manslaughter, 
i. Unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive 

j. Armed burglary. 
deviceor bomb, or 

(Emphasis added.) 
The district court reversed Barnes’ sentence as a habitual 

felony offender, concluding that sequential convictions were still 
necessary for a defendant to meet the definition of a habitual 
felony offender under section 775.084(1)(a)l, as adopted in 
1988. The sequential conviction requirement was first adopted 
by this Court as a necessary prerequisite for the imposition of a 
habitual offender sentence under our decision in Joyner v. Slate, 
158 Fla. 806, 30 So. 2d 304 (1947). As explained in that deci- 
sion, sequential conviction means that the second conviction of a 
defendant had to be for an offense committed after the first con- 
viction. The pertinent portion of the statutes in effect at the time 
of the Joytler decision r e d  as follws: 

775.09 Punishment for second conviction of fi1ony.--A 
person who, afrer having been coniicfed wifl~in this state of a 
felony or an attempt to commit a felony, or under the laws of any 
other state, government or country, of a crime which, if com- 
mitted within this state would be a felony, commits any felony 
within this state is punishable upon conviction of such second 
offense as follows: If the subsequent fclony is such that upon a 
first conviction the offender would be punishable by imprison- 
ment for any term less than his natural life then such persoil must 
be sentenced to imprisonment for a term no less t5an the longest 
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term nor more than twice the longest term prescribed upon 9 first 
conviction. 

775.10 Punishment fcr fourth conviction of felony.-A per- 
son who, after having been three times convicted within this state 

felonies or attempts to commit felonies, or under the law of 
y other state, government or country of crimes which, if corn- 

mitted within this state, would be felonious, commits a felony 
within this state shall be sentenced upon conviction of such 
fourth or subsequent offense to imprisonment in the state prison 
for the term of his natural life. A person to be punishable under 
this and the preceding section need not have been indicted and 
convicted as a previous offender in order to receive the increased 
punishment therein provided, but may be proceeded against as 
provided in the following section. 

$3  775.09 & 10, Fla. Slat. (1947) (emphasis added). As stated in 
Joyier: 

To constitute a second or a fourth conviction within the purview 
of Sec. 775.09 or Sec. 775.10, supra, the information or indict- 
ment must allege and the evidence must show that the offense 
charged in each information subsequent to the first was commit- 
ted and the conviction therefor was had after the date of the then 
last preceding conviction. In other words, the second conviction 
must be alleged and proved to have been for the crime committed 
after the first conviction. The third conviction must be alleged 
and proved lo have been for a crime committed after both the 
first and second convictions, and the fourth conviction must be 
alleged and proved to have been for a crime committed after each 
of the preceaingthree convictions. 

158 Fla. at 809, 30 So. 2d at 306. This holdingwas in accordance 
with then-existing legal t heoq  that explained the justification for 
a habitual sentence. See R.P. Davis, Annotation, Chronologicnl 
or Procedural Sequence of Former Cotivictiorls CLT Affeaing 
Eihmicetnenr of Pennlry for  Subsequent Offense under Hubirual 

imirial Sfafures, 24 A.L.R 2d 1247 (1952). This reasoning, in 
tifying the impositionof the habitual offender statute, is based d, n the philosophy that an individual who has been convicted of 

one offense and who, with knowledge of that conviction, subse- 
quently commits another offense, has rejected his or her opportu- 
nity to reform and should besentenced 3s a habitual offender. 

The district court, in quashing the habitual sentencz in this 
instance, stated that “the purpose behind Florida’s habitual of- 
fender provision had been to protect society from those criminals 
who persisted in crime after having been given opportunities to 
reform. . . . [T)he sequential conviction requirement is a means 
of insuring that defendants have the chance to reform . . . .” 
Barnes, 576 So. 2d at 761. 

The district court noted that “sequential convictions are not 
required by the plain meaning of section 775.084(1)(a)l, Florida 
Sktutes (Supp. 1988).” Id. at 762. Irrespective of that finding, 
the district court determined that “because the sequential con- 
viction requirement is necessary to carry out the purpose and 

@ 

1 

i. 

i 

intent of the habi tu l  offender statute, we hold (hat habitualia- 
tion must be supported by sequential convictions in the 198s 
version ofthe statute.’’ Id. 

While we agree that the underiying philosophy of  a habitual 
offender statute m y  be better served by a sequential conviction 
requirement, we agree with the district court that the current 
statute is clear and unambiguous and contains no sequential con- 
viction requirement. Under these circumstances, this Court has 
no authority to change the plain meaning of a statute where the 
legislature has unambiguously expressed its intent. Grahnm Y. 
Stare, 472 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 1985); Jenny v. Sfare, 447 So. 2d 
1351 (Fla. 1984); Carson v. Miller, 370 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1979); 
Slate v. Egan, 287 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973). 

We note that this construction of the statute, in accordance 
with its plain meaning, may cause m y  more defendants to be 
sentenced as habitual offenders, resuiting in longer prison terms, 
and thus may have a substantial effect on the prison population. 
The sequential conviction requirement provides a basic, underly- 
ing reasonable justification for the imposition of the habitual 
sentence, and we suggest that the legislature reexamine this area 
of the law to assure that the present statute carries out its intent 
and purpose.’ 

For the r w o n s  expressed, we answer the question in the 
negative, quash the decision of the district court, and remand this 
cause with directions that the trial court’s order sentencing 
Barnes as a habitual offender be affirmed. 

It is so ordered. (SHAW, C.J. and McDONALD, GRIMES 
and HARDING, JJ., concur. KOGAN, J., concurs speciaily 
with an opinion, in which BARKE?T, 3.. concurs.) 

‘We have jurisdicfion. An. V, 5 3@)(4), Fla. Consl. 
’We n o k  chat rhc Florida Sentencing Guidclincs Commission has recom- 

mended h a t  section 775.084, Florida Statutes, bc repcalcd. Fla. Scntcncing 
Guidelines Comm’n. A Proposal 10 Rcvisr rhc Srafcw’dc Scnrcnring Giiidriincs 
(Ian. 1, 1992) (on file with Clerk. RE. Sup. CI.). 

(KOGAN, J., specially concurring.) I concur with the rationale 
and result r ached  by the mjority,  but only because this particu- 
lar defendant’s felonies arose from two separate incidents. Were 
this not the case, I would not concur. I do not believe the le~is la -  
ture intended that a defendant be hab i tua l id  for separate cnmes 
arising from a single incident, and I do not read the mjor i ty  as so 
holdins today. Under Florida’s complex and overlapping crimi- 
nal statutes, virtually any felony offense can give rise to multiple 
charges, depending only on the prosecutor’s creativity. Thus, 
virtually every ofTense could be hab i tua l id  and enhanced ac- 
cordingly. If this is what the legislamre intended, it simply would 
have enhanced the penalties for all crimes rather than resorting to 
a “back-door’’ method of increasing prison sentences. (BAR- 
KETT, J., concurs.) 

* * *