WOOA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
MAY 4 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.
ByChief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

ν.

BILLY T. KEY,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 78,899

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLEN P. GIFFORD ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #0664261 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Court's decision in State v. Barnes, 17 FLW S119 (Feb. 20, 1992) resolves the issue on which this Court accepted jurisdiction, as acknowledged in Point I. Accordingly, the bulk of this brief concerns the validity of the inventory search leading to this prosecution, which the district court upheld as lawful. Respondent is aware that on March 16 this Court denied, as a Cross Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Review on Separate Issue. The undersigned counsel understands the order to mean that no independent jurisdiction arises on this issue. However, because this Court accepted jurisdiction of the case on the certified Barnes question, it has jurisdiction of the entire case, including the suppression issue. Reed v. State, 470 So.2d 1382, 1383 (Fla. 1985). Accordingly, respondent has raised the issue in this Court, as he did in the district court. The undersigned regards this action as consistent with this Court's precedent, and not in violation of the order of March 16. If he is in error, the mistake was made in good faith.

-1-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts, and adds the following record material pertinent to the suppression issue raised herein. This case was consolidated in the district court from two separate appeals. All record references herein are to case number 90-3496.

The state charged respondent with possession of more than 20 grams of cannabis and driving while license suspended. (R204-205) Mr. Key moved to suppress the cannabis as seized during what he claimed was an unlawful search. (R238) Circuit Judge Laura Melvin conducted a hearing on the motion immediately before trial. (R155)

Warren McIntyre, a deputy sheriff, testified during the suppression hearing that he saw Mr. Key as the two passed one another heading in opposite directions in south Walton County. (R159) McIntyre, who knew that Key's license had been suspended, turned to follow as he called in a tag and license check to his dispatcher. (R159-162) Mr. Key had turned onto a dirt road and stopped in front of a cable stretched across the entrance to an abandoned business. (R160) Mr. Key got out of his car and told McIntyre he didn't need this because he was already in enough trouble. (R160) McIntyre asked for his license, and Mr. Key told him he knew it was suspended. (R160) McIntyre arrested him for driving with a suspended license. (R160) Another deputy found two marijuana "roaches" in the defendant's shirt pocket, then transported him from the scene while McIntyre drove Mr. Key's vehicle to a police substation. (R164) Although the car was not

-2-

obstructing traffic, McIntyre refused the defendant's request to leave it for his stepfather to pick up. (R163-164, 187) Mr. Key was allowed to call his stepfather to pick up the car "some time after he arrived there [at the substation]." (R167)

At the substation, McIntyre conducted what he called an inventory search of the vehicle, including its rear truck bed. (R171) Its contents included a motorcycle and a motorcycle gas tank, under which the deputy found 110 grams of marijuana. (R173) The car was released to the defendant's stepfather at 12:44 a.m., more than three hours after the arrest. (R173) Johnny Rogers testified that when he received the truck, which he had last seen four or five days earlier, "everything was tore up inside." (R179) McIntyre told him he had conducted inventory. (R179) Additional pertinent facts from the suppression hearing appear in the body of the argument.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the court found the search justified under several theories and denied the motion to suppress the cannabis. (R195-196) Evidence substantially similar to that presented in the suppression hearing was adduced during trial. (R38-106) Defense counsel reasserted the grounds for suppression at trial. (R9) The jury found Mr. Key guilty of both offenses as charged. (R150-151, 246-247)

On appeal, the district court rejected Mr. Key's argument that the seizure of the truck and resulting search violated his Fourth Amendment rights. <u>Key v. State</u>, 589 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). The Court wrote:

-3-

We conclude that the deputy acted in accordance with the department's standardized criteria in determining that it would be inappropriate to leave appellant's vehicle containing an unsecured motorcycle, and that it would be unreasonable to require an officer to remain with the vehicle for the period of time it would take appellant's stepfather to arrive at the scene. We further conclude that the subsequent vehicle impoundment and inventory were conducted in compliance with the department's General order No. 23. Therefore, we affirm the trial court's denial of appellant's motion to suppress.

Id. at 350.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. This Court has recently answered the certified question in the negative.

II. The deputy sheriff disregarded his department's official policy in seizing Mr. Key's truck, which was not unlawfully parked, and in conducting an inventory search. A general order of the sheriff's department conferred on arrestees the discretion to choose to leave a lawfully parked vehicle at the scene of the arrest. The deputy failed to comply with this order, rendering the resulting inventory search unlawful. Under the Fourth Amendment, police are given broad authority to exercise discretion when acting within standard regulations. That authority does not extend, however, to conduct outside the regulations, or to regulations interpreted so broadly as to permit almost unfettered discretion, as here.

-5-

ARGUMENT

I. SEQUENTIAL PRIOR CONVICTIONS ARE NOT A NECESSARY PREDICATE FOR A SENTENCE UNDER SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989).

Respondent recognizes that this Court has decided this issue adversely to him in <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 17 FLW Sl19 (Feb. 20, 1992). II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE SEIZED DURING AN INVENTORY SEARCH CONDUCTED CONTRARY TO THE EXPRESS POLICY OF THE LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY OF THE OFFICER WHO CONDUCTED THE SEARCH.

Warren McIntyre of the Walton County Sheriff's Department discovered several ounces of marijuana in the back of Mr. Key's vehicle during what he characterized as an inventory search. Mr. Key had asked to leave the truck where it sat, not obstructing traffic, until his stepfather could retrieve it. The officer refused this request, drove the car to the police substation, and searched it.

Seizure and search of the truck violated the Fourth Amendment for two reasons. First, the deputy violated department regulations in impounding the truck unnecessarily. Second, the regulations themselves afforded the officer so much discretion that they provided an inadequate substitute to the probable cause and warrant requirements of the Fourth Amendment. Thus, a search conducted pursuant to the regulations violated Mr. Key's right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures.

In <u>Colorado v. Bertine</u>, 479 U.S. 367 (1987), the Supreme Court held that reasonable police regulations relating to inventory procedures administered in good faith satisfy the Fourth Amendment. The Court noted and approved its earlier decisions adhering to requirements that inventories be conducted according to standardized criteria. <u>Id</u>. at 374, citing to <u>Illinois v. Lafayette</u>, 462 U.S. 640, 648 (1983); and <u>South Dakota</u> <u>v. Opperman</u>, 428 U.S. 364, 374-375 (1976). In <u>Bertine</u>, police department regulations gave officers discretion to choose between

-7-

impounding a vehicle and locking it in a public parking place. The officer chose impoundment. On this aspect of the case, the Supreme Court held:

> Nothing in <u>Opperman</u> or <u>Lafayette</u> prohibits the exercise of police discretion so long as that discretion is exercised according to standard criteria and on the basis of something other than suspicion of evidence of criminal activity. Here, the discretion afforded the Boulder police was exercised in light of standardized criteria, related to the feasibility and appropriateness of parking and locking a vehicle rather than impounding it. There was no showing that the police chose to impound Bertine's van in order to investigate suspected criminal activity.

479 U.S. at 375-376.

Here, testimony during the suppression hearing established that, at the time of the arrest and search, the officer's actions were governed by General Order Number 23 of the Walton County Sheriff's Department. That order provides, in pertinent part:

- B. Arrest Made Vehicle Not Evidence Nor Subject to Seizure
 1. If the owner or possessor of a vehicle is arrested, and
 - can provide no reasonable alternative to impoundment:
 a. The officer must establish a necessity for impounding.
 - b. The officer must advise the owner or possessor of the vehicle of the intent to impound.
 - c. The officer must give the arrested person a reasonable amount of time to provide an alternative to impoundment.
 - The arrested person may request a wrecker of his choice.
 - The arrested person may designate another responsible person to take custody of the vehicle.
 - If legally parked, the vehicle may be left at the location of the arrest.

(R242-243)

The officer did not follow this procedure. Mr. Key wanted to leave the vehicle, which was parked at the entrance of an

-8-

abandoned cable television facility, not obstructing traffic, until his stepfather could come to pick it up. The officer would not allow this option, although expressly authorized by department policy, because the 30 to 45 minutes it would take the stepfather to arrive was not a reasonable amount of time and because the officer himself would be responsible in the interim for the vehicle and its contents. (R164-165) However, General Order 23 provides that officers are responsible only for impounded vehicles; it does not confer on them responsibility for vehicles not impounded. Contrary to the department policy in <u>Bertine</u>, General Order 23 permitted the arrestee to choose among alternatives to impoundment, including leaving it at the scene of the arrest.

There is no necessity to impound a vehicle which an arrested person decides to leave at the scene of arrest. In so doing, the arrestee accepts the consequences of his actions. Responsibility for damage to the vehicle or theft of its contents falls to the arrestee who has consciously decided to bear that risk and not on the arresting officer. Thus, the district court's conclusion that the officer followed department policy in deciding it would be unreasonable to remain with the vehicle until it was picked up rests on the assumption that the deputy would have been responsible for damage to an unattended vehicle. This assumption finds no support in General Order 23. Only impounded vehicles become the responsibility of the officer. In expressly providing that the arrestee may choose to leave the vehicle at the scene, the order places responsibility for that decision on him alone.

-9-

Mr. Key may reasonably have decided that he would rather risk damage to the vehicle or loss of its contents (whose worth to him as its owner only he could assess) during the 30 to 45 minutes the vehicle would be left unattended before his stepfather could collect it. Thus, Mr. Key elected two of the three alternatives under General Order 23, precluding the necessity for impoundment.

This Court has cited <u>Bertine</u> for the proposition that police need not provide alternatives to impoundment. <u>State v. Wells</u>, 539 So.2d 464 (Fla. 1989), <u>affirmed</u>, <u>Florida v. Wells</u>, 109 L.Ed. 2d 1 (1990). However, <u>Bertine</u> affords officers discretion in this regard only if they are following standardized criteria. 479 U.S. at 375. In its determination that the deputy followed the criteria, the district court necessarily interpreted General Order 23 so broadly that it provides almost unfettered discretion. For instance, the officer is given wide latitude to determine what is a "reasonable alternative" to impoundment and a "reasonable amount of time" to provide that alternative. The standardized criteria are thus transformed into a nebulous rule of reason.

The purpose of standardized criteria is to circumscribe just this type of discretion. As the U.S. Supreme Court has stated, "standardless and unconstrained discretion is the evil the Court has discerned when in previous cases it has insisted that the discretion of the official in the field be circumscribed, at least to some extent." <u>Delaware v. Prouse</u>, 440 U.S. 648, 661 (1979). In <u>Bertine</u>, the Court noted that the directive followed by the Boulder Police Department in that case established several

-10-

conditions that had to be met before the officer could pursue the park-and-lock alternative. For instance, the alternative was not available where there was reasonable risk of damage or vandalism to the vehicle or where the approval of the arrestee could not be obtained. The Court noted that these conditions served to circumscribe the discretion of the officer as well as protect the vehicle and minimize claims of property loss. 479 U.S. at 376 n.7. Here, General Order 23 afforded much broader discretion. Alone and equipped only with nebulous guidelines, the officer enjoyed wide discretion to determine whether leaving the vehicle at the scene of the arrest was, in his view, a reasonable alternative to impoundment.

The broad discretion given to officers acting under department policy under <u>Bertine</u> and its antecedents does not extend to officers violating the policy, or to those following a policy that may be interpreted so broadly that almost unbridled discretion is available in its application. For these reasons, the search of Mr. Key's vehicle was not a permissible inventory search under the Fourth Amendment.

The trial court upheld the search on several theories, including as an incident to arrest. Obviously, this search was not validly conducted incident to arrest as that concept has been defined by the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>New York v. Belton</u>, 453 U.S. 454 (1981). The <u>Belton</u> court held that "when a policeman has made a lawful custodial arrest of the occupant of an automobile, he may, as a contemporaneous incident of that arrest, search the passenger compartment of that automobile". Id. at 460. This

-11-

search was neither a contemporaneous incident to the arrest nor confined to the passenger compartment of the vehicle. Just as obviously, the police lacked probable cause for the search. The officer testified that he did not believe he was conducting a search based on probable cause.

For these reasons, the trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress the 110 grams of cannabis seized pursuant to an unlawful search, and the district court erred in affirming the conviction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments contained herein and the authorities cited in support thereof, respondent requests that this Honorable Court quash the order of the district court affirming his cannabis conviction, and order that the conviction be reversed and the case remanded for further proceedings.